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Mileage Certificate Changes 2025
CONCORD
(CTUA:0507-0)

(CERTCODE:0507-0)

Map Locator

0.21 mi CL3 TH-11 (Cozy Nook)
designated Not Up To Standard
(NUTS) pursuant to 19 VSA 305(a)
(CL3 from 1.43 to 1.22 mi)
(CL4 from 0.09 to 0.30 mi)
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Alley, Kerry

From: Alley, Kerry
Sent: Tuesday, January 7, 2025 3:59 PM
To: Concordadminasst
Subject: Preloaded change to Cosy Nook Rd (TH-11)

Good afternoon Susan (and Selectboard), 
 
I wanted to reach out to the Selectboard to… 
1. Explain the preloaded change on the 2025 Concord Mileage Certificate that was recently emailed to the Town, and  
2. Inquire whether a public right of way extends beyond where TH-11 is shown on the Town Highway Map. 
 
 
1. Preloaded Change:  
Before Christmas, I spoke with Dane Thorgalsen about class 3 TH-11 (Cosy Nook Rd). He confirmed that it is only 
maintained to class 3 standards up to where the road takes a sharp right turn right (westward) to follow the river (this 
unmaintained portion of TH-11 was TH-14 before the dam was put in), but the Town Highway Map has been showing 
the class 3 portion as continuing 0.21 mi past that right turn before it becomes a class 4 highway for the last 0.09 mi. The 
portion that is shown in our records as class 4 is highlighted yellow in the following map excerpt: 

 
 
The NUTS designation is used when our records/documents indicate that the road is class 3 but isn’t maintained to class 
3 standards. This designation lets us include the mileage of unmaintained roads in the class 4 mileage totals instead of 
the class 3 totals, and also lets anyone using our data know that they shouldn’t expect class 3 road conditions. 
 
Because the NUTS designation is not a reclassification, we also recommend that the Town formally reclassify this portion 
of TH-11 as class 4 (or legal trail) or discontinue it.  
 
 
2. Where is the end of the public right of way that starts as TH-11? 
I’ve attached two images showing the area around TH-11. Both show semi-transparent areal imagery over shaded 
terrain, and showing how we map TH-11. One of those images also shows the Concord parcel data, which suggests that 
the public right of way extends well past where we’ve mapped the end of TH-11. Does the town consider the entire 
length shown in the parcel data to be a public right of way? What about the rest of former TH-14 that lies beyond the 
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end of the parcel data (the portions that are still above water, that is)? Here is a link to the 1949 Town Highway Map 
that shows the extent of what was then known as TH-
14:  https://maps.vtrans.vermont.gov/Maps/TownMapSeries/ESSEX_Co/CONCORD/CONCORD_MILEAGE_1949.tif 
 
If the town does believe that there is a longer public right of way than what is currently shown on the town highway 
map, then we can start looking at how we can get it back on the map. 
 
I realize that the information provided above can be a lot to process, so I’d be happy to answer any questions by phone 
or email. 
 
Thank you for your assistance making sure that the Concord Town Highway Map is as current and accurate as possible, 
 
Kerry 
 
_________________________________________________ 
Kerry Alley | GIS Professional III 
Policy, Planning & Research Bureau – Mapping Section 
Policy, Planning & Intermodal Development Division 
Vermont Agency of Transportation 
219 North Main Street | Barre, VT 05641 
802-917-2621 (cell) | Kerry.Alley@vermont.gov 
http://vtrans.vermont.gov/planning/maps 
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